69123.6

69123-6

No. 691236-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANTONIAL M. MONROE,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Barbara L. Linde

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

COREY EVAN PARKER Attorney for Appellant

LAW OFFICE OF COREY EVAN PARKER 1461 Spectrum Irvine, California 92618 (425) 221-2195

##

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Antonial Monroe met Jessica Wolfe ("Wolfe") when she was leaving Tia Lou's, a nightclub in downtown Seattle, Washington. Wolfe and her friend Victoria Burden ("Burden") had just engaged in a fist fight with other women in the nightclub. When Monroe came in contact with Wolfe, she was bleeding and he asked her if she was doing okay. Wolfe initially cussed at Monroe and then apologized while Monroe attempted to help her. Monroe provided Wolfe his number and Wolfe provided Monroe with her friend Burden's number because she did not have a phone..

After a few exchanges, Wolfe and Monroe began dating and frequently engaged in consensual sex. For two days, Wolfe lived with Monroe at his mother's house in Kirkland.. They left the home and went to live at the Golden West Motel in Edmonds, Washington.. Wolfe had been a prostitute for years prior to meeting Monroe. She had worked for a "pimp" named Quinton Jones.

One evening at the Golden West Motel, Wolfe had her friend Shayla Bennett ("Bennett") over. When Monroe arrived at the motel, Wolfe told the other woman to give Monroe oral sex. RP 633. Instead, Monroe and the Bennett started having sexual intercourse without a condom. RP 633. This upset Wolfe. RP 466. Wolfe was admittedly

jealous. RP 468. Wolfe was angry that Monroe was having sex with Bennett without a condom. RP 637. Soon after, Wolfe contacted Kyla Conlee ("Conlee") at the Dream Center. RP 432. The Dream Center is a church in Los Angeles that helps house homeless families, helps people recover from addiction and rescues people from human trafficking. RP 175. Upon the call, Conlee contacted the Genesis Project, a nonprofit organization that works with local law enforcement to assist woman in getting out of trafficking. RP 186, 192. Meanwhile, Monroe was driving the girls home and they stopped at the McDonalds closest to the Motel. RP 640. While in the drive through, Monroe received a phone call from Wolfe asking where he was. RP 640. She then sent him a text message stating not to return to the motel because the police were at the motel. RP 643. Monroe was concerned that Wolfe may have harmed herself and did not know why the police were at the motel. He drove back to the motel as fast as he could. RP 644.

Upon Monroe's arrival at the Golden Coast Motel, there were a number of Edmonds Police Officers yelling for Monroe to get down on the ground as soon as he exited his vehicle. RP 648. Monroe was ordered to lie face down in a puddle while the Officer put an assault rifle to his back and he was arrested based on the statements of Jessica Wolfe that Monroe was her "pimp."

Monroe was charged with Promoting Prostitution in the First Degree. The trial court ruled that only Monroe's crimes of dishonesty could be admitted into evidence if Monroe took the stand.

During direct examination, Monroe's trial attorney asked Monroe to explain why he made "obscene" comments when he was being arrested. She asked him if he was just acting up because he didn't know why he was being arrested. Monroe responded that he did not understand why he was being arrested because he was not promoting prostitution and proceeded to say "I don't do nothing." "I don't commit crimes" as it pertained to this particular arrest.

Monroe's trial counsel argued that the trial court needed to look at the context of Monroe's statement. Trial counsel argued that Monroe was stating that he was not committing a crime at that time and did not understand why he was being arrested in such a dramatic fashion. Monroe's trial counsel also argued that Monroe had already admitted to his Identity Theft conviction in his testimony and thus the jury would not interpret his statement to mean he has never committed a crime in the past. The trial court ruled that Monroe's statement opened the door and allowed the Prosecutor to ask Monroe about all of his prior adult misdemeanor and felony convictions during cross-examination. The prosecutor proceeded to ask Monroe the following prior convictions: unlawful possession of a

firearm, bail jumping, his assaults, arson, malicious mischief, reckless endangerment, trespass, resisting and obstructing arrest, and harassment.

After determining that Monroe opened the door to his prior adult felonies and misdemeanors, the trial court explicitly ruled and repeated on multiple occasions for clarity that the prosecutor could not ask Monroe about any prior juvenile convictions.

Despite the trial court's clear ruling that the prosecutor could not make reference to any of Monroe's juvenile convictions, the prosecutor asked Monroe about the following six juvenile convictions: assault, malicious mischief, reckless endangerment, trespass, resisting and obstructing, and harassment.

Although the trial court ruled that the prosecutor could not admit any of Monroe's juvenile convictions because they were too remote in time, the prosecutor asked specifically about six of them, including harassment. The prosecutor also asked Monroe if harassment means making threats. Promoting prostitution by threat or force is an element of Promoting Prostitution in the First Degree and thus evidence that Monroe made threats in the past is severely prejudicial.

After the prosecutor asked Monroe about six of his prior juvenile convictions, the trial court recognized that the juvenile convictions were improperly put before the jury. The prosecutor stated he had a

misunderstanding despite the record reflecting that he clarified with the trial court that he could not ask about Monroe's juvenile convictions. Mornoe's trial counsel argued that the court should strike any reference that was made regarding Monroe's juvenile criminal history.

The trial court heard argument from both sides and initially was inclined to rule that the trial court intended on striking the prosecutor's reference to Monroe's juvenile matters because she recognized this evidence would prejudice Monroe. However, the trial court instead decided to remedy the situation by simply reading pattern jury instruction 5.05 that the trial court had already anticipated reading prior to the Prosecutor's disregard of the ruling.

Thus, the trial court's remedy for six of Monroe's juvenile convictions improperly coming in before the jury was to instruct the jury the pattern jury instruction 5.05, which the trial court had already intended on reading to the jury before the prosecutor violated the court's ruling and asked about the juvenile convictions. Jury instruction 5.05 states the following: "You may consider evidence that the defendant has been convicted of a crime only in deciding what weight or credibility to give to the defendant's testimony and for no other purpose."

The trial court's remedy of reading this jury instruction did not undo the prejudice to Monroe of six juvenile convictions that should not have been admitted. Specifically, the harassment charge and the follow-up question about Monroe making threats was severly prejudicial and should result in a new trial for Monroe. To do otherwise would set a dangerous precedent that the State can strategically disregard Court exclusion rulings with no ramifications.

Furthermore, a juror was sleeping during Monroe's trial. The juror was specifically sleeping during the testimony of Wolfe, the alleged victim and only witness to the alleged crime who testified in the trial. As Wolfe testified, an audience member at the trial brought to trial counsel's attention that one of the jurors was sleeping for awhile during the testimony. The trial court chose not to make any further inquiry and instead commented that a juror sleeping "is something that we have to battle against in the afternoons." The risk of the juror not hearing all of the evidence to make a verdict decision is too dire for the court to glaze over this issue and not inquire with the juror as to whether or not the juror was sleeping.

Thus, Monroe's conviction should be reversed and he should be granted a new trial due to the reversible error of the trial court.

Next, Monroe's trial counsel never challenged the venue, nor did she propose that the State prove venue in the "to convict" portion of the jury instructions. All of the alleged criminal acts that constituted Promoting Prostitution in the First Degree occurred

in Snohomish County, Washington. None of the alleged criminal acts occurred in King County, Washington where Monroe was being tried.

During the alleged victim, Wolfe's testimony, she testified that she was walking on the "99" She later clarified that she was walking on "the 99" by the motel. The motel she referred to was the Golden West Motel located on "the 99" in Edmonds, Washington. During Wolfe's testimony, she only testified to "walking for the defendant" or prostituting for him at "the 99" by the Golden West Motel, where they were staying. She never testified that any prostitution occurred in King County, Washington. Detective Vienneau in his direct testimony testified that the Golden West Motel was in Snohomish, Washington and this is where Monroe was arrested and where the alleged activities took place. Monroe was investigated by Edmonds Police Officers because this is where the alleged acts took place.

During Monroe's testimony, the prosecutor revealed that he believed the Golden West Motel was on the Aurora Strip in Seattle, not on the 99 in Edmonds, as Monroe explained to him during cross-examination. RP 725.

Monroe's trial counsel made no motion that venue was improper and did not motion for "King County" to be included as an element in the jury

instructions for the prosecutor to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. The prosecutor's burden for proving venue was relieved, as the prosecutor only had to prove that the crime occurred in the State of Washington. Trial counsel's failure to raise the venue argument or motion to include them in the "to convict" instructions was ineffective. It was highly probable that the State would not have been able to prove the acts occurred in King County beyond a reasonable doubt and it is highly probable that the verdict would have been different.

Therefore, the court should reverse and remand for a new trial on this issue alone.

Monroe's trial counsel was also ineffective by not admitting testimony as to an e-mail written by Detective Steven Veienneau stating his opinion that Monroe was not a threat to Wolfe. Instead of asking Detective Vienneau, the sender, about the content of the e-mail, Monroe's trial counsel instead asked Detective Jaycin Diaz, the recipient. The State objected on hearsay grounds and the trial court sustained the State's objection. As a result, the content of the e-mail that would assist in Monroe's defense stating that he was not a threat to Wolfe was not heard by the jury. Monroe's trial counsel made no effort to call Detective Vienneau back to the stand to have the crucial testimony in the e-mail properly admitted. To that end, the jury did not hear this opinion of the

detective simply due to trial counsel's misuse of the evidence rules and lack of preparation.

Trial counsel was also ineffective by not calling witness, Victoria Burden ("Burden") to the stand. Burden spent a great deal of time with the alleged victim, Jessica Wolfe during the time she was associating with Monroe and lived with her for a period of time. The State conducted an interview with Burden who stated that she never witnessed Monroe threaten or use violence against her and never witnessed Monroe promoting prostitution. Monroe's trial counsel had Burden under subpoena and intended on calling her as a witness. However, she did not end up calling her as a witness in trial and thus called no witnesses for the defense other than Monroe himself because she was unprepared.

Finally, Monroe's trial counsel appeared on the motion calendar only four days prior to the trial to substitute in as attorney of record. Monroe was under the impression that John Henry Browne ("Browne") would be trying the case. Rather, Browne's associate, Colleen Hartl appeared for the trial. Per the record, it appears Monroe's trial counsel did not interview the witnesses personally, nor would they have time to conduct an investigation in a four day span of time.

The trial court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The trial court erred when it ruled that Appellant opened the door to evidence of all his prior adult misdemeanor and felony convictions.

2. The trial court erred when it took no remedy to strike or offer a limiting instruction when the Prosecutor referenced Monroe's juvenile criminal history after the trial court clearly ruled that his juvenile convictions were not admissible.

 The trial court erred when it failed to adequately inquire into whether a juror was sleeping through testimony.

4. Monroe was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution, when his trial counsel failed to object to venue when it was a clear issue.

5. Appellant was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney failed to admit evidence of Detective Vienneau's observation he wrote in an e-mail that Monroe was not a threat.

6. Appellant was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney did not call Victoria Burden to the stand.

7. Appellant was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney was admittedly unprepared for trial.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it ruled that Appellant opened the door to otherwise inadmissible evidence of all prior adult and misdemeanor convictions?

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when the prosecuting attorney made reference to Monroe's juvenile convictions despite the trial court's ruling to the contrary and the trial court did not instruct the jury to strike the testimony or offer a limiting instruction to the jury?

3. Defense counsel informed the trial court of an audience member's observations of a sleeping juror. Sleeping is a form of juror misconduct. Did the trial court deny Appellant a fair jury trial by not conducting appropriate inquiry, thereby failing to ensure the juror was able to render a verdict after having heard all the evidence?

4. Where both the Washington Constitution and Court Rules require that a defendant be tried in the county where the crimes were alleged to have been committed, and where the State's evidence clearly established that the alleged crimes were committed in Snohomish County, was Appellant denied effective assistance of counsel when his trial counsel failed to move to dismiss based on improper venue, or to request the inclusion of the element of venue in the jury instructions?

5. Was the Appellant deprived of his right to ineffective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney failed to admit evidence of detective Vienneau's observation that Appellant was not a threat to the alleged victim.

6. Was the Appellant denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney did not call Victoria Burden to the stand.

7. Was the Appellant deprived of his right to ineffective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney was admittedly unprepared for trial after only four days of preparation?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Background

Antonial Monroe ("Monroe") met Jessica Wolfe ("Wolfe") when she was leaving Tia Lou's, a nightclub in downtown Seattle, Washington. Wolfe and her friend Victoria Burden ("Burden") had just engaged in a fist fight with other women in the nightclub. RP 394. When Monroe came in contact with Wolfe, she was bleeding and he asked her if she was okay. RP 396. Wolfe initially cussed at Monroe and then apologized while Monroe attempted to help her. RP 536. Monroe provided Wolfe his number and Wolfe provided Monroe with Burden's number because Wolfe did not have a phone. RP 396. After a few social exchanges, Wolfe and Monroe began dating and frequently engaged in consensual sex. RP 429. For two days, Wolfe lived with Monroe at his mother's house in Kirkland. RP 416. They left the home and went to live at the Golden West Motel in Edmonds, Washington. RP 424. Wolfe had been a prostitute for years prior to meeting Monroe. She had worked for a "pimp" named Quinton Jones. RP 442.

One evening at the Golden West Motel, Wolfe had her friend Shayla Bennett ("Bennett") over. When Monroe arrived at the motel, Wolfe told the other woman to give Monroe oral sex. RP 633. Instead, Monroe and Bennett started having sexual intercourse without a condom. RP 633. This upset Wolfe. RP 466. Wolfe was admittedly jealous. RP 468. Wolfe was angry that Monroe was having sex with Bennett without a condom. RP 637. Soon after, Wolfe contacted Kyla Conlee ("Conlee") at the Dream Center. RP 432. The Dream Center is a church in Los Angeles that houses homeless families, helps people recover from addiction and rescues people from human trafficking. RP 175. Upon the call, Conlee contacted the Genesis Project, a nonprofit organization that works with local law enforcement to assist woman in getting out of trafficking. RP 186, 192. Meanwhile, Monroe was driving the girls home and they stopped at the McDonalds closest to the Motel. RP 640. While in the

vehicle at the McDonalds drive through, Monroe received a phone call from Wolfe asking where he was. RP 640. She then sent him a text message stating not to return to the motel because the police were at the motel. RP 643. Monroe was concerned that Wolfe may have harmed herself and did not know why the police were at the Motel. RP 644. He drove back to the Motel at a rapid pace. RP 644.

Upon Monroe's arrival at the Golden Coast Motel, there were a number of Edmonds and Seattle Police Officers yelling for Monroe to get down on the ground as soon as he exited his vehicle. RP 648. Monroe was ordered to lie face down in a puddle while one of the Officers put an assault rifle to his back and he was arrested based on the statements of Jessica Wolfe that Monroe was her "pimp." RP 648.

#### 2. <u>The Trial Court Ruled That Monroe's Direct Testimony</u> <u>Opened the Door to All of Monroe's Adult Misdemeanor</u> <u>and Felony Convictions.</u>

During direct examination, Monroe's trial attorney asked Monroe to explain why he made "obscene" comments when he was being arrested. RP 652. She asked him if he was just acting up because he didn't know why he was being arrested. RP 652. The dialogue that the court ruled opened the door to all of Monroe's prior adult felonies and misdemeanors even beyond his prior crimes of dishonesty is the following:

HARTLE: You were just explaining?

MONROE: I was just explaining that I don't know what I was being investigated for, so my only hints – I just left the room with females, so I don't know what I was being arrested for, so I just said, man, I don't do nothing. I was just saying I don't do nothing. I don't commit crimes. I just – I'm just a fuck boy. I fuck bitches. What am I being arrested for?

#### RP 652.

The State argued that Monroe's statement, "I don't commit crimes" during his direct testimony opened the door to the introduction of all of Monroe's prior convictions. RP 658. Monroe's trial counsel argued that the trial court needed to look at the context of Monroe's statement. She argued that Monroe was stating that he was not committing a crime at that time and did not understand why he was being arrested in such a dramatic fashion. RP 663. Monroe's trial counsel also argued that Monroe had already admitted to his identity theft conviction in his testimony and thus the jury would know he did not mean he has never committed a crime. RP 663.

The trial court ruled that Monroe's statement opened the door and allowed the prosecutor to ask Monroe about all of his prior adult misdemeanor and felony convictions during cross-examination. RP 701. However, he could not ask about juvenile convictions. RP 701. Nonetheless, the State proceeded to ask Monroe during cross-examination about the following prior juvenile and adult convictions: unlawful possession of a firearm, bail jumping, his assaults, arson, malicious mischief, reckless endangerment, trespass, resisting and obstructing arrest, and harassment. RP 712-714.

#### 3. <u>The Trial Court Ruled That the State Was Not</u> <u>Allowed to Reference Monroe's Juvenile Convictions and</u> <u>the State Asked About The Convictions Regardless During</u> <u>Cross-Examination of Monroe.</u>

After determining that Monroe opened the door to his prior adult felonies and misdemeanors, the trial court ruled that the prosecutor could not ask Monroe about any prior juvenile convictions. RP 701, 702.

The trial court's ruling is comprised of the following dialogue outside the presence of the jury during trial:

THE COURT: Okay. Counsel, I'm going to grant you that leave to inquire with this exception. I'm going to rule that just I think as a bright line it makes sense in putting some boundaries upon this so the jury does not use the information improperly <u>to drop off</u>

the juvenile felonies (emphasis added).

MR. BARBER: Drop off what?

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