691236

691236

NO. 69123-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

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

However, a standing objection is allowed only to the party <u>losing</u> the motion to exclude evidence. <u>State v. Weber</u>, 159 Wn.2d 252, 272, 149 P.3d 646 (2006) (citing <u>State v. Sullivan</u>, 69 Wn. App. 167, 171, 847 P.2d 953 (1993)). When the State has introduced evidence notwithstanding the court's prior exclusionary ruling, the defendant is required to object in order to give the trial court the opportunity to cure any potential prejudice.

Weber, 159 Wn.2d at 172. An exception to this rule exists if there are unusual circumstances making it "impossible to avoid the prejudicial impact of evidence that had previously been ruled inadmissible." Weber, 159 Wn.2d at 272 (quoting Sullivan, 69 Wn. App. at 173). Such unusual circumstances can include the situation where the State's questions were "in deliberate disregard of the trial court's ruling," or 'an objection by itself would be so damaging as to be immune from any admonition or curative instruction by the trial court." Id.

Monroe did not object to the State's questioning regarding his juvenile misdemeanor convictions. RP 713-14. And, there were no unusual circumstances that would have made an objection "so damaging" as to be immune to any curative remedy. First, the prosecutor did not deliberately disregard the trial court's ruling. He misunderstood the ruling to prohibit Monroe's juvenile felony convictions, not his misdemeanor convictions. RP 739, 741. And contrary to Monroe's claim on appeal, the trial court's ruling regarding the juvenile convictions was confusing.

⁴ Monroe raised the issue with the court later that morning, following a recess. RP 738. However, he indicated that he wished "to clarify" the court's ruling on the issue, and to propose a limiting instruction if the court had excluded all juvenile convictions. RP 738. This request was untimely. See State v. Gray, 134 Wn. App. 547, 557, 138 P.3d 1123 (2006) (citing State v. Jones, 70 Wn.2d 591, 597, 424 P.2d 665 (1967)) ("To be timely, the party must make the objection at the earliest possible opportunity after the basis for the objection becomes apparent.").

During argument regarding what criminal convictions would be admitted, the prosecutor read the list of convictions he intended to inquire about, one by one. RP 700. The list included Monroe's juvenile convictions, both felony and misdemeanor. Id. The court followed up the State's recitation with its oral ruling, stating that it was going to "drop off the juvenile felonies." RP 701. The court specifically mentioned Monroe's juvenile felonies by name: "[W]hen you said robbery and taking a motor vehicle, I think those only occurred as a juvenile." Id. Monroe himself attempted to clarify by asking the prosecutor, "[T]he crimes that you listed, the convictions are what you will be inquiring about except for the robbery and taking a motor vehicle?" Id. Although the court later uttered the words, "No juvenile convictions" and "make no reference to the juvenile matters[,]" these statements came in the midst of what the record reflects was a confusing discussion between the parties and the court. RP 701-02. In sum, it is clear that the prosecutor's questions concerning Monroe's juvenile misdemeanors were the product of a misunderstanding, not intentional misconduct.

Secondly, the State questioned Monroe about his prior convictions one by one. RP 712-14. Had Monroe objected to the State's first question regarding a juvenile conviction, the court could have sustained the objection, stricken the testimony, and instructed the jurors to disregard it.

The State's misunderstanding of the court's ruling would have been resolved, and the jury would not have heard evidence concerning the remainder of Monroe's juvenile convictions, including his harassment conviction, which the State asked about last. RP 713-14.

Finally, given the context in which the State elicited evidence of Monroe's juvenile convictions, an objection would not have been damaging to Monroe. The jury had just heard about Monroe's adult convictions, which included unlawful possession of a firearm, multiple assaults, bail jumping, and arson. RP 712-13. Monroe could have easily raised an objection to the State's question regarding malicious mischief or reckless endangerment without any—much less significant—damage to his case.

Because there were not unusual circumstances that relieved

Monroe of his duty to object to the evidence, he has failed to preserve this
issue on appeal. This Court should not consider it.

 Monroe Has Failed To Establish Any Prejudice From The Introduction Of His Prior Juvenile Misdemeanor Convictions.

To prove that prosecutorial misconduct warrants a new trial,

Monroe must prove that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and

prejudicial. State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)

(citing State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)). In order to prove prejudice, Monroe must prove that there is "a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict." State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). Monroe has no right to reversal of his conviction "unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred."

State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997) (quoting State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981)).

Monroe has failed to demonstrate that there is a substantial likelihood that the admission of his juvenile misdemeanor convictions affected the jury's verdict. J.W.'s testimony that Monroe prostituted her was compelling, and also demonstrated her lack of bias toward Monroe. J.W. contacted her friend Kyla Conlee at the Dream Center to assist her in leaving Monroe; she did not intend to involve the police and she was surprised when they arrived at the motel. RP 432, 436. She warned Monroe in a text message that the police were on their way, and told him not to return to the motel. RP 469. She later texted Monroe and told him to delete the texts on his phone. RP 478-79. J.W. did not want Monroe to get into trouble and did not want to testify. RP 479.

In contrast, Monroe's denial of the charges lacked all credibility.

On direct examination, Monroe testified that J.W. never told him about her pimp Quinton Jones:

No, she's never told me. That was – that was the first time I've heard these stories with all these pimps. She didn't never say – she said she got in trouble. She got blackballed from all the casinos. She never said she was beaten by pimps or that she was with <u>other</u> pimps. I never known none of that. I thought she was just prostituting for herself.

RP 566-67 (emphasis added). The State impeached this testimony with a jail phone call that Monroe had made prior to trial wherein he discussed how J.W. "kept telling me about this dude named Quinton. . . . She told me but he was beating on her and doing this shit." RP 736.

Moreover, Monroe's explanations for the evidence bordered on the absurd. He testified that at the time of his arrest he was taking two girls to the motel in Edmonds to make a porn video. RP 601-03. He told the jury of his dream to make it "big" in the porn industry. RP 605. His attempt to explain away the damaging text messages retrieved from his phone was equally unbelievable. He claimed that his texts to "Cousin Mike," wherein he stated that he was "sitting a ho down," and that it was "good \$," meant only that he was "getting ready for a video" and that he could make anywhere from \$1000 to \$1500 dollars per video. RP 513-14, 620. When pressed for specifics on how much money he had actually made

selling porn videos, Monroe admitted that he had not earned any money.

RP 621-22. Similarly, Monroe incredibly claimed that his text message to "Joe in Wenatchee" stating, "I've got some females now for you," meant only that Joe should come to Seattle to "party" at the strip clubs with Monroe. RP 617-18.

Monroe's testimony was extremely damaging to him in other ways. He routinely referred to women in derogatory terms. RP 539-40, 623, 628. He inundated the jury with irrelevant information that undoubtedly harmed his credibility, such as bragging about his sexual proclivities. See RP 541 (testifying that he had engaged in "hundreds" of one-night stands), RP 555 (informing the jury of his love for strip clubs). He demeaned the victim, testifying to unnecessary details about her and her body. See RP 559 (telling the jury that J.W. wanted to enter a "butt-shaking" contest because "she knows how to dance provocative"); RP 600 (going into detail about the size of J.W.'s bottom); RP 628 (again remarking on the size of J.W.'s bottom).

Finally, Monroe's version of his arrest unquestionably destroyed his credibility. He testified that he was arrested with much commotion and that he had no idea why he was being arrested, because he was "just a fuck boy" and was only at the motel to "fuck some bitches." RP 649-52. Whatever credibility might have remained at that point was lost when

Monroe claimed that he "did not commit crimes." RP 652. The State successfully impeached Monroe with evidence of his adult convictions for felony assault, misdemeanor assault, custodial assault, unlawful possession of a firearm, arson, and bail jumping. RP 712-13.

Given all of the evidence, it is clear that the jury's consideration of Monroe's misdemeanor convictions played no role in its verdict. Monroe essentially conceded as much in the trial court: "I think what [the jury's] understanding probably was[,] was most of these were adult. And whether they separate it out at the end juvenile I don't know." RP 743. Monroe has failed to carry his burden to show that the prosecutor's questioning regarding misdemeanor juvenile convictions prejudiced him. 6

Monroe has also failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion when it did not strike the juvenile convictions or provide a special limiting instruction regarding them. A trial court's refusal to strike testimony, and a trial court's ruling on the propriety of a limiting

⁵ On appeal, Monroe focuses almost exclusively on the alleged prejudicial effect of his harassment conviction. However, Monroe told the jury that the conviction stemmed from "arguing over a bike," and the State introduced no evidence to the contrary. RP 714. It is highly improbable that this testimony affected the verdict.

⁶ Monroe claims that even if he has not demonstrated prejudice, this Court should reverse his conviction to avoid setting a "dangerous precedent" that the prosecutor "could then strategically ignore a trial court's rulings to exclude certain evidence" so long as there is no prejudice to the defendant. Brf. of App. at 34-35. He cites to no authority that would authorize a new trial in the absence of prejudice, and he ignores the fact that here, the record is clear that the prosecutor did not intentionally ignore the court's ruling. Rather, a dangerous precedent is set by a rule that allows a defendant to sit back, not object, wait for a favorable verdict, and then appeal if unsuccessful. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

instruction are both reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Studebaker, 67 Wn.2d 980, 983, 410 P.2d 913 (1966) (motion to strike); State v. Ramirez, 62 Wn. App. 301, 305, 814 P.2d 227 (1991) (propriety of limiting instruction). Given Monroe's claim that he "did not commit crimes," it would have been a proper exercise of the trial court's discretion to admit evidence of Monroe's juvenile misdemeanor convictions in the first instance. Thus, refusing to strike such testimony could not constitute an abuse of discretion. The trial court recognized this, and stated its belief that the juvenile misdemeanors had probative value in light of Monroe's direct testimony. RP 755.

Second, the trial court's primary concern with striking the testimony, or providing a limiting instruction regarding it, centered on the defendant's false testimony that his past arson was a juvenile conviction, when it was actually an adult conviction. RP 741-44, 755-56. The court was unsure that it could craft a proper instruction striking or limiting the testimony without simultaneously commenting on the evidence regarding what was a juvenile conviction and what was not. Id. Nor did Monroe propose any proper instruction. Finally, the court did not want to call further attention to the juvenile convictions. RP 756.

Ultimately, the trial court felt that the instruction it gave was sufficient to appropriately limit the jury's consideration of the evidence:

"You may consider evidence that the defendant has been convicted of a crime only in deciding what weight or credibility to give to the defendant's testimony, and for no other purpose." CP 51. This decision was reasonable. The court did not abuse its discretion.

3. MONROE HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH REVERSIBLE ERROR BASED ON AN UNSUBSTANTIATED ANONYMOUS ALLEGATION THAT AN UNIDENTIFIED JUROR WAS SLEEPING.

Monroe claims that the trial court failed to conduct an adequate inquiry into whether a juror was sleeping during a portion of the trial. He claims that this alleged error entitles him to a new trial. He is wrong.

First, Monroe has not adequately preserved a claim of alleged juror misconduct and this Court should refuse to consider it. Second, the trial court is not required to conduct a factual hearing every time a claim is made that a juror was inattentive. Here, an unidentified audience member apparently communicated to Monroe's attorney that one of the jurors "might've been sleeping." After Monroe's counsel repeated the vague, after the fact allegation on the record, the trial court indicated that it would carefully monitor the situation, asked counsel to do the same, and the issue was never again raised. There was no requirement that any particular juror be questioned. The court did not abuse its discretion.

a. Relevant Facts.

After J.W. completed her testimony, the court excused the jury for its afternoon recess. RP 475. After the recess, Monroe's counsel indicated that she had one additional question of J.W. that she felt was important. RP 476. The court asked the prosecutor if he would check to see if J.W. was still in the courthouse. Id. Another brief recess was taken for that purpose. RP 477. After the second recess, Monroe's counsel stated:

MS. HARTL: Yeah, I think we got one thing, Your Honor. We can sit down. I think – somebody in the audience said that there – a juror might've been sleeping for a while, and another juror next to them are nudging them awake, so –

THE COURT: I did not notice that. But it is something that we have to battle against from time to time in the afternoons. Mr. Barber, did you notice that?

MR. BARBER: I didn't, no.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, I would appreciate counsel's assisting in watching for that, and –

MS. HARTL: Okay.

THE COURT: -- we can take a - I can take a stretch break whenever I see that. So -

FEMALE SPEAKER: I'll go like this.

THE COURT: Oh. I'll keep that –

MS. HARTL: Okay.

THE COURT: -- keep that in mind. Okay?

RP 477-78. Nothing else was ever mentioned regarding a juror allegedly sleeping.

b. Monroe Failed To Preserve His Claim Of Alleged Juror Misconduct.

Unless counsel objects to a juror's inattentiveness during trial, the error is waived on appeal. State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 204, 721 P.2d 902 (1986). Merely calling the court's attention to the matter is insufficient to preserve the claim. Casey v. Williams, 47 Wn.2d 255, 257, 287 P.2d 343 (1955). In Casey, the court stated that the prejudice arising from a sleeping juror:

is prejudicial when it occurs, and a party with knowledge must seek relief at that time. He cannot gamble on the verdict of the jury and seek relief thereafter in the event the verdict is unfavorable to him. Directing the trial court's attention to the alleged misconduct, without asking for relief of any kind, does not, under the circumstances of this case, preserve the error for one who takes the calculated risk of permitting the case to go to the jury.

47 Wn.2d at 257.

In the present case, Monroe brought up the possibility that one of the jurors might have been sleeping. RP 477. The allegation was not based on Monroe's or his counsel's own observations, but rather the observations of an anonymous audience member. <u>Id.</u> Monroe did not ask the court to inquire of either the audience member or the allegedly inattentive juror, nor did he ask to remove the juror. He did not even

identify the juror. Instead, Monroe's counsel agreed to assist the court in watching for any problem with juror inattention; apparently there was none. RP 477. In sum, Monroe was willing to wait and gamble on a favorable verdict and then claim error for the first time on appeal. He has failed to preserve this claim, and this Court should not consider it.

c. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Did Not Question The Jury.

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